04.7 Wapp

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

FIN 11 1992

K SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

JOHN E. WARD,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO. 79,986

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

P. DOUGLAS BRINKMEYER
PLORIDA BAR #197890
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
FOURTH FLOOR, NORTH
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the defendant in the trial court, and will be referred to as petitioner in this brief. A one volume record on appeal, including transcripts, will be referred to as "R" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses.

Attached hereto as an appendix is the decision of the lower tribunal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

By information filed April 5, 1991, petitioner was charged with 4 counts of attempted armed robbery and 1 count of possession of a short barrel shotgun (R 155-56). The cause proceeded to jury trial on August 21-22, 1991, and at the conclusion thereof petitioner was found guilty of 3 counts of attempted armed robbery and 1 count of possession of a short barrel shotgun (R 169-73).

At trial, the state's evidence tended to prove that petitioner confronted 2 men and 2 women at Lost Lake; he pointed a sawed-off shotgun at three of them and made them kneel on the ground as he demanded money; one of the men grabbed the gun and it went off; the gun was removed from petitioner, who was chased by one victim but ran away (R 14-26; 31-44; 51-67). The gun was delivered to the police (R 70-75), who apprehended petitioner (R 76-88).

Petitioner's defense was that he and his wife went to lost Lake; one of the two men had pointed the shotgun in his face; they struggled and it went off; and then the men beat him (R 89-98).

At sentencing, the prosecutor noted the attempted robberies were second degree felonies (R 237). The state proved that petitioner had prior 1990 Leon County convictions for aggravated assault and resisting an officer with violence (R 206-207; 240-46). Petitioner was sentenced as an habitual violent offender to concurrent 20 year sentences, with a 10

year mandatory minimum (R 247-48). His sentencing guidelines scoresheet called for 9-12 years on all charges (R 211).

On appeal, petitioner argued the habitual violent offender statute was unconstitutional. Petitioner also argued the degree of crime for the attempted robbery charges on the judgment was incorrect, with which the lower tribunal agreed. See appendix.

The lower tribunal held that the habitual violent offender statute was constitutional, but certified one of two questions it had previously certified in <u>Tillman v. State</u>, 586 So.2d 1269 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), review pending, case no. 78,715:

DOES SECTION 775.084(1)(8) VIOLATE THE CONSTITUTIONAL PROTECTION AGAINST **DOUBLE** JEOPARDY **BY INCREASING A** DEFENDANT'S PUNISHMENT DUE TO THE NATURE OF **A** PRIOR **OFFENSE?**

On June 8, 1992, a timely notice of discretionary review was filed. On June 10, 1992, this Court entered its briefing schedule order.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should answer the certified question in the affirmative. The statute bears no substantial and reasonable relationship to its objective of punishing repetition of violent crime. It permits imposition of an enhanced sentence as a habitual violent felon upon one who has committed but a single violent felony. The fixation on the prior offense, for which an offender has already been punished, also renders the enhanced sentence a violation of constitutional prohibitions against double jeopardy.

The proper remedy is to vacate the sentences and remand for resentencing under the sentencing guidelines.

ARGUMENT

THE HABITUAL VIOLENT FELONY PROVISIONS OF SECTION 775.084, FLORIDA STATUTES, ARE VIOLATIVE OF CONSTITUTIONAL DUE PROCESS AND DOUBLE JEOPARDY PROVISIONS.

A. INTRODUCTION

In 1988, the legislature amended Section 775.084, Florida Statutes, creating among other changes a new classification, habitual violent felony offender. Ch. 88-131, \$6, Laws of Florida. Section 775.084(1)(b), Florida Statutes, now defines a habitual violent felony offender as one who has committed one of 11 violent felonies within the past five years, or been released from a prison sentence for one of these crimes within the past five years, and then commits a new felony. Section 775.084(4)(b) provides enhanced penalties for those who qualify, including mandatory minimum terms.

The First District Court of Appeal has certified a question, asking whether a sentencing scheme that permits enhancement of **a** sentence for an habitual violent felon violates the constitutional Double Jeopardy clause.

B. STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION

The habitual violent felony provisions suffer internal conflict. The statute's title invokes the term "habitual violent felony offenders." The term is repeated in Section 775.084(1)(b). The word "habitual" denotes an act of custom or habit, something that is constantly repeated or continued.

Oxford American Dictionary (1980 ed.). This Court has held that

unambiguous statutory language must be accorded its plain meaning. Carson **v.** Miller, 370 So.2d 10 (Fla. 1979).

However, Section 775.084(4)(b) defines a habitual violent felony offender as one who commits only one felony within five years of a prior, enumerated violent felony. That construction permits a habitual violent felony offender sentence for a single, prior crime of violence, even though the common definition of habitual means something more.

C. CONSTITUTIONALITY

1. Due Process

If a construction of the statute which does not require the defendant to be a repeat, constant, or continual felon is approved, the habitual violent felony provisions fail the due process test of "a reasonable and substantial relationship to the objects sought to be obtained." See State v. Saisz, 489 So.2d 1125 (Fla. 1986); State v. Barquet, 262 So.2d 431 (Fla. 1972).

As noted above, the label "habitual violent felony offender" purports to enhance the punishment of those who habitually commit violent felonies. Section 775.084(1)(b), Florida Statutes. This is the object the statute seeks to attain. However, as applied here, the statute does not require the defendant to have more than one enumerated violent felony. Here, the state established only one prior violent enumerated felony, aggravated assault,

plus the instant felony.' On this record, there is no evidence of a habit of violent crime. The statute permits an even greater absurdity: A defendant may be convicted of attempted aggravated assault -- a misdemeanor -- in 1986, then be sentenced to 30 years with a 10-year mandatory minimum term in 1991 as a habitual violent offender for dealing in stolen property. Thus, despite its objective as expressed four times in the statute's use of the term "habitual violent felony offender," the only habit this construction of the statute punishes is crime, not necessarily felonious crime and certainly not habitual violent felonious crime.

In the sentencing guidelines arena, this Court has held that one prior crime (second degree murder), followed by a subsequent crime (another second degree murder), does not constitute a continued or persistent pattern of criminality. State v. Dodd, 594 So.2d 263 (Fla. 1992). Petitioner asks: if persistent means the same thing as habitual, and if a defendant who commits two murders is not persistent, how can a defendant who commits an aggravated assault followed by three attempted robberies be habitual?

The First District Court of Appeal rejected a similar due process argument in Ross v. State, 579 So.2d 877 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), review pending, case no. 78,179, oral argument held April

¹The prior resisting arrest with violence is not an enumerated prior violent felony.

7, 1992. The court held that, "[i]n our view, just as the state is justified in punishing a recidivist more severely than it punishes a first offender, its even more severe treatment of a recidivist who has exhibited a propensity toward violence is also reasonable." Id. at 878. Petitioner has no quarrel with this proposition, except that the court's use of the word "propensity" does not reflect the showing required for habitual violent felon enhancement. Propensity connotes tendency or inclination. If the habitual violent provisions required that the state establish commission of two prior violent felonies, a propensity would be shown. However, a single, perhaps random act of violence does not fit within the common understanding of the word. In a guideline departure case, Judge Cowart of the Fifth District Court of Appeal has noted:

If the term "pattern" is not carefully defined by reference to objective criteria, looking for a "pattern" in a defendant's criminal record is like looking for a pattern or figure in the moon, or in the clouds or in the Rorschach test or in tea leaves or in sheep entrails—the process is highly subjective and the result is in the eye of the beholder. One sees largely what one wants to see. Those who do not like guideline sentencing can always say, "I spy a pattern and two offenses show continuous and persistent conduct "

<u>Lipscomb v. State</u>, 573 So.2d 429, 436 (Fla. 5th DCA) (Cowart, J., dissenting), review dismissed, 581 So.2d 1309 (Fla. 1991). The

²Petitioner is not arguing the statute is unconstitutional because the legislature failed to include aggravated battery in 1988 as **one** of the enumerated prior violent felonies.

manner in which the <u>Ross</u> court puts the word "propensity" to use sparks the same concern. By any objective measure, one violent offense does not establish **a** propensity. Moreover, as noted above, the expressed legislative intent is to punish habitual violent conduct, not merely **a** loosely defined propensity, The failure of the contested provisions to reasonably and substantially relate to this purpose renders its application a violation of due process of law.

2. Double Jeopardy

The state and federal constitutions both forbid twice placing a defendant in jeopardy for the same offense. U.S. Const., amend. V, XIV.; Fla. Const., art. 1, §9. The First District Court of Appeal has noted that the violent felony provisions of the amended habitual offender statute implicate constitutional protections. Henderson v. State, 569 So.2d 925, 927 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990). The fixation of the habitual violent felony provisions on prior offenses renders application of this statute to petitioner a violation of these constitutional protections. This goes to the certified question.

To punish **a** defendant as a habitual violent felony offender, the state need only show that he has one prior offense within the past five years for a violent felony enumerated within the statute. The current offense need meet no criteria, other than that it be **a** felony committed within five years of commission, conviction or conclusion of punishment for the prior "violent" offense. Analysis of the construction of this statute and its potential uses leads to an inescapable conclusion: that the

enhanced punishment is not for the new offense, to which the statute pays little heed, but instead for the prior, violent felony. The almost exclusive focus on this prior offense renders use of the statute a second punishment for that offense, violating state and federal double jeopardy prohibitions. When that prior offense also occurred before enactment of the amended habitual offender statute -- not the case here -- the statute's use also violates prohibitions against ex post facto laws.

Habitual offender and enhancement statutes have been upheld against challenges similar to the one made here, **as** long **ago** as **1948**, on the grounds that the enhanced sentence was based not on the prior offenses but on the offense pending for sentencing.

See, e.g., Gryger v. Burke, **334** U.S. **728** (**1948**). There the Court explained:

The sentence as a fourth offender or habitual criminal is not to be viewed as either a new jeopardy or additional penalty for the earlier crimes. It is a stiffened penalty for the latest crime, which is considered to be an aggravated offense because a repetitive one.

Id. at 728. Using the same reasoning, Florida's courts have also rejected challenges based on double jeopardy arguments. See generally, Reynolds v. Cochran, 138 So.2d 500 (Fla. 1962); Washington v. Mayo, 91 So.2d 621 (Fla. 1956); Cross v. State, 96 Fla. 768, 119 So. 380 (1928). If the provisions in question were more concerned with repetition, the inquiry might end here. The only repetition on which this portion of the statute dwells, however, is the repetition of crime, not the repetition of violent crime. Its focus on the character of the prior crime,

without regard to the nature of the current offense, distinguishes Florida's habitual violent felony offender sentencing scheme from other enhanced sentencing provisions. See <u>Hall v. State</u>, **588** So.2d 1089 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) (Zehmer, J., concurring), questions certified by unpublished order dated Dec. 12, 1991, review pending, case no. 79,237:

I view the imposition of the extent of punishment for the instant criminal offense based on the nature of the prior conviction as effectively imposing a second punishment on defendant solely based on the nature of his prior offense, a practice I had thought was prohibited by the Florida and United States Constitutions. This new statutory procedure is entirely different from the former concept of enhancing sentences of habitual offenders having prior offenses without regard to the nature of the prior felony, which has been upheld in this state and other jurisdictions.

This distinction is the point at which the amended statute runs afoul of constitutional double jeopardy clauses.

The First District Court of Appeal did not meaningfully address this distinction in <u>Tillman</u> or <u>Ross</u>, <u>supra</u>, or in <u>Perkins</u> <u>v. State</u>, 583 So.2d 1103 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), review pending, case no. 78,613. In <u>Perkins</u>, the Court rejected the same arguments made here, on the authority of <u>Washington</u>, <u>Cross</u> and <u>Reynolds</u>, concluding that "the reasoning of these cases is equally applicable to this enactment." <u>Id</u>. at 1104. <u>Perkins</u> thus left unaddressed the constitutional implications identified by Judge Zehmer in Hall, supra.

The Florida provisions at issue focus not on any specific offense pending for sentencing, but on the character of a prior

offense for classification purposes. Consequently, an offender subjected to the operation of Section 775.084(4)(b), Florida Statutes, is being punished more for the prior offense than for the current one. In effect, as noted by Judge Zehmer in <u>Hall</u>, this then is a second punishment for the prior offense, barred by the state and federal constitutions.

CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments contained herein and the authorities cited in support thereof, petitioner's sentences must be vacated and the **case** remanded for resentencing without resort to the habitual violent felon provisions of Section 775.084. The statute violates constitutional due process and double jeopardy provisions. The certified question should be answered in the affirmative.