FILED SID J. WHITE

JUN 19 1992

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By Chief Deputy Clerk

JOHN E. WARD,

Appellant,

vs.

Case No. 79,986

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT BUTTERWORTI ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS
BUREAU CHIEF, CRIMINAL APPEAL
FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0325791

CHARLIE MCCOY
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0333646

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This brief was largely complete when the Court issued its decision in Ross v. State, case no. 78,179 (Fla. June 18, 1992). The State has relied upon Ross several times, and kept the remainder of the brief as prepared.

However, <u>Ross</u> expressly refutes Petitioner's due process argument; and, by necessary implication, answers the certified question (double jeopardy) against him. The State suggests that the question certified in this case is no longer of great public importance. The State also suggests that this Court consider issuing an order declining review in light of <u>Ross</u>. Such action would end the parade of **cases** all certifying the same questions (e.g., <u>Tillman v. State</u>, **case** no. 78,715; <u>Perkins v. State</u>, case no. 78,613).

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State accepts Petitioner's statement.

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The answer to the certified question is "NO." While an habitual violent felon's past crimes do substantiate the greater penalty for the current offense; such felon is being punished only one time for the current offense, as authorized by statute.

It is long and well established that a defendant's criminal history may justify a harsher sentence for a present offense without violating double jeopardy. Petitioner's argument expresses only his personal disagreement with the Legislature's definition of a felon as both "habitual" and "violent." His personal disagreement is, in effect, a matter of policy not of constitutional significance and not within this Court's purview.

Before his double jeopardy argument, Petitioner improperly raises substantive due process. Such argument is outside the scope of the certified question, and was deliberately rejected by the court below as the basis for a separate question of great public importance. This Court should not consider it. Moreover, Petitioner does not have standing to raise substantive due process on the grounds alleged, which actually challenge the statute as applied to others not similarly situated. merits, the definition and punishment of habitual violent felons reasonably achieves the statute's obvious purpose of society greater protection from such felons.

## ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE

WHETHER INCREASING THE PUNISHMENT FOR A DEFENDANT'S CURRENT OFFENSE, ONLY, BASED ON HIS CRIMINAL PAST VIOLATES THE DOUBLE-JEOPARDY BAR AGAINST MULTIPLE PUNISHMENTS FOR THE SAME CRIME.

## A. Introduction

For convenience, the State will follow Petitioner's format. His part A ("Introduction") requires no substantive response. The State notes that Petitioner refers to the "constitutional Double Jeopardy clause" (initial brief, p. 5) without distinguishing between the U.S. and Florida constitutions. That he does not do so implicitly concedes the obvious: that both constitutional provisions are interpreted the same. See, Carawan v. State, 515 So.2d 161, 164 (Fla. 1977)("[The] double Jeopardy clause in Art. I, section 9, Florida Constitution, . . . was intended to mirror . . . the double jeopardy clause of the fifth amendment."). There are no independent state constitutional grounds upon which to decide the certified question. Petitioner does not allege any.

## B. Statutory Construction

There is no need to resort to principles of statutory construction, as even Petitioner concedes the statute is not

ambiguous. He does so by interpreting the statute correctly, and noting that only one prior violent felony will substantiate a felon's classification as an "habitual violent felony offender." Since there is no ambiguity,' there is no need to resort to external rules to construe the statute. State v. Egan, 287 \$0.2d 1 (Fla. 1973); Bewick v. State, 501 \$0.2d 72 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987).

Otherwise, Petitioner's argument is transparent. He claims "habitual violent felony provisions suffer internal conflict." (initial brief, p. 5). This observation relies on the dictionary meaning of "habitual;" as opposed to the violent felon statute's use of "habitual" to mean a two-time felon, with the earlier offense being one of eleven deemed "violent" by §775.084(2)(b)1, Florida Statutes (1989).However, the dictionary or common meaning of "habitual" is not applicable. Since the statute provides the definition, common usage is irrelevant. See, Southeastern Fisheries Assoc., Inc. v. Dept. of Natural Resources, 453 So.2d 1351, 1353 (Fla. 1984) (when statute does not define words of common usage, plain meaning ascribed).

See, Ross v. State, case no. 78,179 (Fla. June 18, 1992), slip op., p. 6: "[T]his statute is highly specific in the requirements that must be met before habitualization can occur."

Deprived of its central premise, Petitioner's legal point collapses. Factually, Petitioner is in no position to complain. One of his past felony convictions was for aggravated assault (R 240, 244), an offense deemed violent by §775.084(1)(b)1.f. His PSI report shows an adjudication of guilt for aggravated assault on November 19, 1989, in Leon County case no. 89-5523. (R 207). Petitioner had no objection to this item in his PSI report. (R 239). Even more telling is the fact that his present offenses included three attempted armed robberies, which are specified as violent felonies pursuant to §775.084(1)(b)1.c.

Unlike the defendants in <u>Tillman</u> and <u>Ross</u>, <sup>2</sup> Petitioner continues to commit <u>violent</u> felonies. Any questions arising from the statutory definition of "habitual violent felony offender" are irrelevant to him. His predicate felony was **violent**. <sup>3</sup> Three of his four current offenses were violent. The fourth was for

Tillman v. State, 586 So.2d 1269 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), review pending, case no. 78,715, and Ross v. State, 579 So.2d 877 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991), review pending, case no. 78,179 (oral argument held April 7, 1992).

The State submitted certified copies of Petitioner's judgment and sentence in case no. 89-5523 for aggravated battery, and conviction in case no. 89-2071 for resisting arrest with violence. Defense counsel replied that he represented Petitioner on those offenses. (R 241). Note that these two offenses would substantiate sentencing Petitioner as an habitual, but nonviolent, felon. The only difference would be in the minimum mandatory sentences. While the ten-year minimum required by §775.084(4)(b)2 would fall away, the other minimum sentences would remain, as they are required by other statutes.

possession of a short-barrel shotgun, a device often associated with violent conduct.

Above all others, Petitioner appropriately was habitual, constitutionally treated violent as an Virtually all of his past and present crimes are violent, illustrating the danger of his habit. Given his criminal record, Petitioner's complaint that the statute requires only one prior violent felony conviction represents not "internal conflict," but only his personal disagreement with the statute. disagreement is of no constitutional significance.

# C. Constitutionality

#### 1. Due Process

The State takes strong exception to Petitioner even making a due process argument, which should be disregarded **as** improperly presented. First, it is facially outside the certified question, and not necessary to disposition of that question. See, Stephens v. State, 572 So.2d 1387 (Fla. 1991) ("We do not reach the other issue raised by the parties, which lies beyond the scope of the certified question."); and Ross, supra, slip op.

The question reads: "Does section 775.084 (1)(b) violate the constitutional protection against <u>double jeopardy</u> by increasing a defendant's punishment due to the nature of the offense?" [e.s.]

at p. 6 (declining to address three ancillary issues that were "beyond the scope of the issue for which jurisdiction lies.").

Second, the court below deliberately chose not to certify the first of two <u>Tillman</u> questions here. The question which was <u>not</u> certified in <u>Tillman</u> addressed due process, when a defendant was classified **as** a violent habitual felon and his present offense was not "violent." 586 So.2d at 1269.

That only one prior felony need be "violent" under the statute is the basis of Petitioner's due process argument here. However, the decision below deliberately omitted the corresponding question certified in <a href="mailto:Tillman">Tillman</a>. The only reasonable inference is that the court below here did not consider the substantive due process question to be one of great public importance.

Nevertheless, Petitioner raises "due process" without regard to the decision below. He does not allege independent jurisdictional grounds for his argument, or even that this Court should exercise its unquestioned authority to entertain ancillary issues. This part of his brief (p. 6-9) must be disregarded.

If this Court is inclined to consider Petitioner's due process argument, the State will answer on the merits. Before doing so, the State notes that Petitioner's substantive due

process challenge turns on whether the statutory classification (i.e., the definition of "habitual violent felony offender") bears a reasonable relationship to the purpose sought. State v. Saiez, 489 So.2d 1125 (Fla. 1986). Petitioner claims the definition violates due process because it requires only one violent felony in the past, and that the present felony need not be violent.

As noted above, Petitioner's criminal history includes at least one violent felony of aggravated assault. important, his three current offenses (attempted armed robberies) are also "violent" under the statutory definition. Consequently, Petitioner is actually making an argument that the statute may be unconstitutional as applied to a defendant, unlike himself, who meets only the minimum requirements to be classified as an habitual, violent felon. Petitioner does not have standing to do State v. Burch, 545 So.2d 279, 283 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989) ("A person to whom a statute may constitutionally be applied may not challenge that statute on the grounds that it may conceivably be applied unconstitutionally to others in situations not before it.") (citations omitted), aff'd with opinion, 558 So.2d 1990). See, Olson v. State, 586 So.2d 1239 (Fla. 1st DCA

The State suggests that Petitioner's lack of standing explains why the court below did not certify the first question certified in  $\underline{Tillman}$ .

1991)("One who is not denied some constitutional right or privilege may not be heard to raise constitutional questians on behalf of some other persons who may at some future time be affected."), quoting 10 Fla. Jur. 2d "Constitutional Law" §2 at 285 (1979). See also, Francois v. State, 407 So.2d 885 (Fla. 1981), cert. denied, 485 U.S. 1122 (1982)(defendant did not have standing to argue that statute arbitrarily established a presumption of death sentence for felony murder when evidence showed defendant was the perpetrator of five premeditated murders, etc.).

The defendant in <a href="Francois">Francois</a>, who faced a death penalty for first-degree murder, could not challenge the felony-murder statute. Certainly, Petitioner cannot challenge a mere sentencing statute -- that is, the definition of "habitual, violent felon" -- when his past and present offenses are violent.

As noted above, <u>Saiez</u> requires that the method of **a** statute be reasonably related to its purpose. Here, the question becomes whether the statutory definition of defendants who repeatedly commit felonies (with at least one in the past being violent) bears a reasonable relationship to protecting society from such felons.

For substantive due process purposes:

It need only be shown that the challenged legislative activity is not arbitrary or unreasonable. Courts will not be concerned with whether the particular legislation in question is the most prudent choice. [I]f the legislation is a reasonably means to achieve the intended end, it will be upheld.

Saiez, 489 So.2d at 1129 (Barkett, J.) quoting with approval, State v. Walker, 444 So.2d 1137, 1138-9 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984) (Grimes, J.), affirmed and lower court opinion adopted, 461 So.2d 108 (Fla. 1984).

The obvious intent and purpose of the habitual felon statute is to punish recidivists more harshly than first-time felons; and to punish violent repeat felons more harshly still.

See, Barfield v. State, 17 F.L.W. S32 (Fla. Jan. 9, 1992) ("Moreover, Florida's habitual offender statute provides a statutory means of dealing with persistent criminal conduct."); and Eutsey v. State, 383 So.2d 219, 223 (Fla. 1980) (noting purpose of earlier version of habitual offender statute). The entire statute does just that.

It takes only one prior felony conviction —— if "violent" -- to qualify as a violent repeat felon; as opposed to two prior convictions for nonviolent habitual felons. The current offense need not be violent. Minimum mandatory sentences

are imposed, whereas there are no minimum sentences  ${f for}$  nonviolent habitual felons. ${f 6}$ 

A person whose criminal conduct includes past commission of a violent felony plus another felony in the present is subject to a lengthier sentence with a mandatory minimum. The question becomes whether such a sentence is a reasonable means to protect society. The question answers itself. A repeat felon strongly intimates a lack of rehabilitation, and presents a continuing threat to the public. Violent past crimes raise the possibility of violent future crimes, simply because the present crime need not be violent does not render the statute unconstitutional.

See, Ross v. State, case no. 78,179 (Fla. June 18, 1992), slip op. at p. 5-6:

Ross contends that due process also is offended.
... We disagree. ... The State is entirely justified in enhancing an offender's present penalty for nonviolent crime based on an extensive violent criminal history.

Petitioner committed aggravated assault in the past, before escalating to three attempted armed robberies in the present. There is no reason to believe he would not commit violent crime again. Society, through the Legislature, need not

Perhaps **as** a balancing factor, classification as a violent habitual felon must be based on Florida convictions, since the definition of habitual, violent felony offender does not include the phrase "qualified offense."

wait for him to shoot a convenience store clerk before deciding that lengthier imprisonment with a mandatory minimum is the appropriate penalty. Petitioner's criminal history refutes his lame due process argument. This Court must deny relief on that ground.

# 2. Double Jeopardy

Although quoted above in response to a due process claim, Ross sounds the death knell for Petitioner's double jeopardy argument. While acknowledging that the habitual felon statute focuses on the criminal offender's prior record Ross also declared that the State was "entirely justified in enhancing an offender's present penalty." (Id., p. 6)(e.s.).

As this Court just recognized, the habitual violent felon statute enhances only the present felony. Consequently, it is simply impossible for such a felon to be punished twice for the past offense. There is no need to go further to deny relief.

Nevertheless, Petitioner's argument is based on the third protection provided by the double jeopardy clause, the prohibition against multiple punishments for the same offense. See, e.g., United States v. Di Francesco, 449 U.S. 117, 101 S.Ct. 426, 66 L.Ed.2d 328 (1980). It is obvious that Petitioner's three current offenses, and his earlier aggravated assault, are

separate because they are separate in time. Hence, the double jeopardy clause would be violated here only if the current punishment was imposed for the 1989 aggravated assault, rather Petitioner's than for current attempted armed robberv convictions. The record is clear, however, that Petitioner was sentenced by the trial court in the instant case for the 1991 attempted robberies, and that his prior punishment for the 1989 offense was not altered in any way. (R 183-9). Consequently, no double jeopardy violation exists.

If this Court were to give credence to Petitioner's claim, it would have to reject all cases which denote the scope of the double jeopardy clause. Moreover, this Court would be required to invalidate the sentencing guidelines and the capital sentencing procedures, both of which aggravate a defendant's current sentence based on the nature and seriousness of prior offenses.

Such radical action is not necessary. As this Court aptly stated in <a href="Cross v. State">Cross v. State</a>, 96 Fla. 768, 119 So. 380, 386 (Fla. 1928):

"The propriety of inflicting severer punishment upon old offenders has long been recognized in this County and in England. They are not punished the second time for the earlier offense, but the repetition of criminal conduct aggravates their guilt and justifies heavier penalties when they are again convicted." As was said in People

v. Stanley, 47 Cal. 113, 17 Am. Rep. 401: "The punishment for the second [offense] is increased, because by his persistence in the perpetration of crime he [the defendant] has evinced a depravity, which merits a greater punishment, and needs to be restrained by severer penalties than if it were his first offense." And as was said by Chief Justice Parker in Ross' Case, 2 Pick. (Mass.) 165: "The punishment is for the last offense committed, and it  $i\,s$  rendered more severe in consequence of the situation into which the party had previously brought himself." The statute does not make it an offense or crime for one to have been convicted more than once. simply prescribes a longer sentence for a second or subsequent offense for the reason that the prior convictions taken in connection with the subsequent offense demonstrates the incorrigible and dangerous character of accused thereby establishing the necessity for enhanced restraint. The imposition of such enhanced punishment is not a prosecution of or punishment for the former convictions. The Constitution forbids such The enhanced punishment is an incident to the last offense alone. But for that offense it would not be imposed.

Id. at 386 (quoting Graham v. West Virginia, 224 U.S. 616 (1912)(citation omitted). See also, Washington v. Mayo, 91 \$0.2d 621, 623 (Fla. 1956); Reynolds v. Cochran, 138 \$0.2d 500 (Fla. 1962); Conley v. State, case no. 90-1745 (Fla. 1st DCA Jan. 2, 1992); and Barber v. State, 564 \$0.2d 1169 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990)(again rejecting the same argument raised here by petitioner).

As is evident from the above sampling of cases:

[Recidivist] statutes are neither new to Florida nor to modern jurisprudence. Recidivist

legislation • • has repeatedly withstood attacks that it violates constitutional rights against ex post facto laws, constitutes cruel and unusual punishment, denies defendants equal protection of the law, violates due process or involves double jeopardy.

Reynolds, 138 So. 2d at 502-3.

Petitioner's argument ignores other significant facts relating to habitual offender sentencing in Florida. For example, the 1988 changes to the habitual offender statute actually narrowed the pool of defendants who could be classified as habitual offenders. Under the statutory scheme approved in Reynolds and in effect until October of 1988, any defendant with one prior felony Of any type was subject to habitualization. Since this Court has previously determined that the Legislature may constitutionally enhance the sentences of all defendants based on the commission of one prior felony of any kind, the Court must likewise hold that the Legislature has the authority to enhance the sentences of defendants who commit the most serious offenses based on the commission of one prior violent felony. Further, because the Legislature can, without violating the double jeopardy clause, distinguish between the nature of an offense (felony vs. misdemeanor) in determining the number of offenses required to habitualize, it certainly can distinguish between violent and nonviolent felons in determining how may prior offenses will subject a defendant to habitualization.

Accordingly, 8775.084(1)(b), Florida Statutes (1989), does not violate the constitutional prohibition against double jeopardy, and Petitioner's argument to the contrary must fail.

## CONCLUSION

The certified question must be answered in the negative, and Petitioner's due process argument must be rejected; thereby affirming the decision below.